Assignments ofError 

I. The Circuit Court committed reversible 
404(b) evidence against Defendant at trial. 

error in admitting improper Rule 

ll. The Circuit Court committed reversible error in failing to exclude a late 
disclosed Facebook printout and failing to grant a mistrial after improper 
testimony regarding the document was introduced. 

m. The Circuit Court committed reversible error in failing to dismiss the first 
degree attempted murder count. 

IV. The Circuit Court committed reversible error in failing to grant judgment of 
acquittal on the kidnapping count, or alternatively, grant a new trial.

Statement of the Case 

1. 	 DefendantlPetitioner Lewis was indicted by a Berkeley County Grand Jury in Criminal Case 

No. 12-F-138, for Attempted Murder in the First Degree (Count n, Malicious Assault (Count 

II), Kidnapping (Count lIn, 2nd Domestic Assault (Count IV), and 2nd Domestic Battery 

(Count V), arising from a November 16, 2011, incident with Sylvia Thomas (formerly 

"Lewis"). See Indictment at Appendix ("App.") pp. 10-12. 

2. 	 The State filed a Notice of Intent to Use 404(b) Evidence, including a prior alleged assault 

between Defendant and Ms. Thomas in February 2011, and the defense filed a response in 

opposition. App. pp. 16-21. 

3. 	 Prior to trial, the defense filed motion to bifurcate regarding the domestic violence charges 

and motions to sever and dismiss the kidnapping charge. See App. pp. 13-15,22-25. 

4. 	 A pretrial hearing was held on October 31,2013, wherein the trial court advised that it was 

not familiar with 404(b) and counsel informed the court that a McGinnis hearing was needed, 

App. pp. 49-52; the State presented testimony from Trooper See, who stated that on February 

15,2011, she responded to a domestic violence complaint from Ms. Thomas, App. p. 55; that 

Ms. Thomas said Defendant accused her of being with a boyfriend at that time, App. p. 57; 

that he assaulted Ms. Thomas in her apartment, told her he was going to kill her, put a knife 

to her chest, but then left, App. pp. 57-59; and that Trooper See filed a criminal complaint 

against Defendant at that time and he was convicted of domestic battery. App. p. 60. 

5. 	 The State argued that the prior incident was properly admissible under State v. McGinnis, 

193 W.Va. 147,455 S.E.2d 516 (1994) because it showed motive Gealously), intent (to kill) 

and plan (to use a knife), App. pp. 63-67. The defense argued it was inadmissible because the 

prior incident was irrelevant for motive/intent/plan purposes and any probative value was 
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outweighed by the unfairly prejudicial effect, App. pp. 67-70. The defense analogized the 

situation to the law under State v. McCraine, 214 W.Va. 188,588 S.E.2d 177 (2003) calling 

for bifurcation of subsequent, enhanced offense charges on the issues of guilt and number of 

prior convictions. App. p. 68. 

6. 	 The trial court then found evidence of the prior incident to be admissible for the reasons 

argued by the State, over the objection of the Defendant. App. pp. 72-73. 

7. 	 The defense then raised its motion to sever the kidnapping charge, arguing the joinder of all 

the charges was unfairly prejudicial. App. pp. 76-82. The defense also argued that the 

kidnapping count was merely incidental to the other crimes alleged, bringing the trial court's 

attention to State v. Miller, 175 W.Va. 616, 336 S.E.2d 910 (1985) (outlining when a 

kidnapping conviction is inappropriate as incidental to another crime). App. pp. 82-83. 

8. 	 In response, the State conceded that the kidnapping was not a "separate incident" and was not 

a "separate offense". App. pp. 83-84. 

9. 	 The trial court then denied the pretrial motion to sever, finding the kidnapping and the attack 

were all part ofthe same set of facts and arose at the same time. App. p. 85. 

10. The first day oftrial proceeded on November 12, 2013, wherein: 

The jury voir dire identified potential juror Richard Thomas as working with Berkeley 

County Prosecutor Pamela Games-Neely's husband. App. p. 119. He was also a correctional 

officer and the defense moved for cause to strike. App. pp. 200-203. The judge denied the 

motion. App. pp. 202- 203. The defense used a peremptory challenge to strike him. App. p. 245. 

Potential juror Deborah Brooks indicated that she had an opinion about the trial, had been 

involved in a domestic violence case about ten years previously, and that it would cause her to 
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lean one way or the other in the case. App. pp. 128-130. The judge removed her for cause and 

neither the prosecutor nor defense counsel objected. Id. 

Potential juror Oscar Casto indicated that he had worked on Prosecutor Neely's re

election campaign. App. p. 130-31. He was also a fonner law enforcement officer, but defense 

counsel did not move to strike for cause. App. pp. 203-208. 

Potential juror Goff stated that she was "shaking" and she did not feel like could "do it 

from what [she] understood about it", indicating that she did not want to make a decision and 

'Judge." App. pp. 140-41. She was excused and neither the prosecutor nor defense counsel 

objected. Id. 

Potential juror Hill indicated that she may have some preconceived leanings because of a 

prior experience with a friend's domestic violence issue. App. pp. 164-165. The defense motion 

to strike for cause was granted over the objection of the State. App. p. 169. Potential juror 

Shelley was struck for cause upon motion of the State and over the objection of the defense after 

he indicated he had previously pled guilty to a domestic violence charge. App. pp. 179-86. 

Defendant objected to the fact that there were no persons of color on the entire jury panel, 

which the trial court noted. App. pp. 232-33. Both the prosecutor and defense counsel initially 

indicated that no person on the fifty member panel was black or African-American. App. p. 244. 

The prosecutor indicated that it was "unfortunate" but that the jury was randomly pulled and it 

was legal. Id. The trial judge indicated that there was nothing he could do about it except "pull 

in some others and then it wouldn't be random." Id. The prosecutor then returned to the issue, 

indicating that there was one jury panel member who stated that she was African-American on 

the juror questionnaire but that she had been excused upon agreement of both parties due to her 

prior experience as a domestic violence victim. App. pp. 246-47. 
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Prior to the presentation of evidence, the defense moved for dismissal of the kidnapping 

count based on the kidnapping statute being changed since the time of the alleged offense. App. 

pp.255-260. Defense counsel argued that the State's theory and allegations in the matter were 

more akin to the unlawful restraint statute, W.Va Code § 61-2-14g, that was enacted in 2011. [d. 

Defense counsel also moved to exclude a Facebook printout of messages between the 

alleged victim Sylvia Thomas and her alleged boyfriend Mackie Bonner, which the State 

contended had the victim's blood on it but did not disclose to the defense until a week before 

trial. App. pp. 261-62: The trial court initially ruled that the State could attempt to introduce the 

Facebook printout into evidence but could not mention the blood on it, and the defense objected. 

App. pp. 284-85. Defense counsel also moved to exclude DNA evidence ofa blood swab from a 

knife based on insufficient chain-of-custody. App. pp. 264-265. 

The prosecutor's opening statement projected that the evidence would show Defendant 

erupted into a jealous rage against his ex-wife Sylvia Thomas one night, stabbing her because he 

thought she was seeing another man and then preventing her from going to a doctor until she 

asked to go see a doctor in D.C. App. pp. 296-303. The State anticipated that the evidence 

would show that Defendant prevented the alleged victim form going to a doctor in order to evade 

capture or arrest and argued that conduct qualified as kidnapping under W.Va law. App. pp. 

305-306. 

Defense counsel's opening statement indicated that the evidence would show that 

Defendant discovered that the alleged victim had been injured in a fight and tried to help her, 

suggesting that she go to the hospital in D.C. because she worked at the local VA hospital. App. 

pp. 307-309. He indicated that no witnesses would testify to hearing the alleged attack and 

nobody would testify as to witnessing the alleged victim under duress when she left the 
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apartment with Defendant in the morning and stopped for gas right outside the state police 

barracks. App. p. 309. 

The State's first witness was Trooper Zebulun Conner, who testified that he was on his 

fourth day on the job, following basic training, when he received the call in this case on or about 

November 20,2011, App. pp. 312-314; that he met with the alleged victim, observing her to be 

"all bandaged up" with some visible injuries, App. pp. 315-320; that he went to the apartment in 

Berkeley County where the alleged attack occurred, observing what appeared to be dried blood 

on the floor and splattered on the couch, walls, bedroom pillows, and every room in the 

apartment, a knife on the floor, another knife in the kitchen and blood in the sink, and hair on the 

floor, App. pp. 320-324; that he observed blood on the knife on the floor, App. p. 325; that he 

observed some blood very faintly and mixed with water on the knife in the kitchen, App. pp. 

326-27; that he took DNA swabs from the alleged victim and knife on the floor about a year after 

the incident, App. pp. 332-36; that he seized the knife from the apartment and took it to his 

detachment where it was placed in temporary evidence, App. p. 336; that he went back and 

retrieved the knife from the evidence locker when he did the DNA swabs, App. pp. 336-37; that 

he did not investigate whether any other tenants at the apartment complex had any information 

about the incident, did not seize clothes, and did not seize the hair, App. pp. 337-38; and that 

when he collected the swab from the alleged victim's cheek he also collected a Facebook 

printout that showed interaction between the alleged victim and a male, App. pp. 338-3.9. 

11. On the second day of trial, the State advised the Court of the case of State v. John Davis, 

Docket No. 11-1775 (W.Va. S. Ct. April 12, 2013), wherein the Supreme Court upheld a 

kidnapping conviction under the prior kidnapping statute, W.Va. Code § 61-2-14a (1999). 

Pp. 357-358. Defense counsel argued that the case was distinguishable, but the trial court 
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ruled that the State could bring the charge under the criminal statute that was in effect at the 

time of the crime over the objection ofthe defendant. App. pp. 358-59. 

12. The trial then proceeded with additional testimony from Trooper Conner, who testified on 

cross-examination that the alleged victim's phone number was "301-800-9153", App. p. 363; 

that Defendant's daughter accompanied him and the alleged victim to inspect the apartment 

but she did not go inside, App. pp. 367-69; that the only two items he seized from the 

apartment were two knives, App. pp. 369-370; that he did not swab the stains in the 

apartment that he thought was blood, did not inspect the exterior of the apartment, and did 

not search the vehicles ofMr. Lewis or the alleged victim, App. p. 370; that he was unaware 

of any report of screaming from the subject apartment on the night in question, App. p. 372; 

that he did not retrieve any surveillance video from the various business and state police 

barracks in the vicinity, App. p. 373-74; that he did not have any photos or documentation 

showing that he was able to differentiate between the two knives before he did the swabbing 

and proving which knife he swabbed, App. pp. 376-77; that he did not submit the knives for a 

forensic examination and did not take fingerprints from the knives, App. pp. 377-78; that 

there was no forensic evidence that Defendant handled either of the knives or the pot lid, 

App. pp. 378-79; that he never interviewed Defendant, App. p. 380; that there was no 

evidence of any furniture being in disarray in the apartment, Id. and pp. 395-96; that there 

were photos of patches, band-aids and medication on the floor of the apartment and it 

appeared someone had utilized a first-aid kit, App. p. 381-82; that he did not take statements 

from medical personnel and did not obtain surveillance footage from the hospital, App. pp. 

382-84; and that he did not obtain the alleged victim's cellphone or bank records, App. pp. 

385-86. 
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13. Trooper Conner testified on re-direct that the alleged victim's daughter may have also been 

present when he went to inspect the apartment on November 20, 2011, and it looked like 

someone had been trying to clean things up, App. pp. 395-96; and that there was evidence of 

somebody being patched up and a bandage with blood on it, App. p. 397. 

14. The State then presented testimony from Sylvia Thomas, who testified that she used to be 

married to Defendant but divorced in June of2012, App. p. 400; that Defendant was the man 

who attacked her, App. p. 401; that she had not used drugs or alcohol since February of2006, 

but there was a point in her life when she had a substance abuse problem, App. p. 407; that 

Defendant was from the D.C. area, p. 409; that when she met Defendant he was stable, but 

then he stopped managing his medicine as prescribed and would have hallucinations, App. 

pp. 410-11; that Defendant called her on November 15,2011, ranting about a lemon truck 

and a checking account getting hacked, Id.; that Defendant was not living with her at that 

time and his name was not on her apartment lease, App. p. 413; that they were separated, but 

she would still let him stay overnight at the apartment, although they were not intimate, App. 

pp. 414-15; that he would use her computer, App. p. 415-16; that during her work shift on 

November 15, 2011, she left work briefly to help Defendant use the computer at her 

apartment and then returned to work, App. p. 417-19; that she worked until midnight that day 

and then went home, App. p. 419-20; that Defendant was still there talking about the lemon 

truck and bank, she told him to leave and then she went to bed, App. p. 420; that she got up 

to go to the bathroom in the night and he tried to touch her in a sexual way, which she 

declined, App. p. 420-21; that he started beating her, said he was going to kill her, and he 

had a knife, App. p. 421-22; that she was screaming bloody murder, App. p. 423; that she 

tried to get to the door and he grabbed her and got on top of her, Id.; that he stabbed her, Id.; 
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that he hit her with a glass pot lid, which dented in her face, App. p. 424; that she tried to run 

and he grabbed her by her hair and ripped it out, App. pp. 424-25; that she plead with him to 

let her get medical treatment and take her to the hospital, App. p. 425-26; that he didn't let 

her go, saying she was going to tell somebody, and laid her down in her bed, App. pp. 426

27; that she asked him to take her to the hospital in D.C., App. pp. 427-28; that he tried to 

clean up the apartment and helped her change clothes, App. p. 429; that he gave her some 

towels, picked her up and put her in her truck, App. p. 430; that they left the apartment, 

stopped to get gas and then went to the hospital in D.C., App. p. 430-31; that he told her she 

was evil, needed to confess her sins, accused her of being with other men, including Mackie 

Brown, and told her that he was going to kill her during the attack, App. p. 431-33; and that 

Defendant was holding a printout of a Facebook conversation between Mackie and her that 

had her blood on it, App. p. 434-435. 

15. At that point, the defense moved for a mistrial based on Ms. Thomas's testimony violating 

the trial court's order to not state that the substance on the Facebook printout was her blood. 

App. p. 434-36. The trial judge did not think it was grounds for a mistrial and denied the 

motion over the defense's objection. App. p. 437. The Facebook printout was then admitted 

into evidence. App. p. 438 

16. Ms. Thomas then continued to testify that she had a big cut on her head and knife injuries to 

her right arm, resulting in impairment to her right hand, App. p. 439; that she had two plates 

in her face and tear duct damage, App. p. 441; that when they got to D.C. she walked into the 

hospital and told them she had been stabbed multiple times and beaten, but she did not know 

who did it, App. p. 443-44; that Defendant was somewhere nearby at the time and he had 

indicated that he had found her walking down the street bloody, App. p. 444; that she did not 
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tell hospital staff that Defendant attacked her because she was scared and he told her not to 

tell, App. pp. 444-445; that she told them she did not know what happened, but that she was 

stabbed around 1 :00 a.m., App. pp. 449-450; that what hospital to go to was not in her 

control, App. pp. 450-52; that Defendant was there acting like nothing happened, App. p. 

451; that she was transferred to another Washington area hospital, where she told them she 

had been assaulted and then went home and her husband took her to the hospital, App. pp. 

456-57; that she did not call the police from the hospital, App. p. 458; that her phone records 

indicated that a call was made from her phone at 3:15 a.m., during the attack, but she did not 

recognize the number and said she did not make the call, App. p. 463; that she called her 

daughter from the hospital on November 18, 2011, App. p. 465; that she spent four days in 

the hospital, App. pp. 466-67; and that Defendant's daughter picked her up from the hospital 

and she went with her and her own daughter to the State Police barracks in Martinsburg to 

report the incident, App. pp. 467-68. 

17. The Court read a limiting instruction per McGinnis prior to the prosecutor's inquiry about 

Defendant's prior alleged attack on Ms. Thomas, App. pp. 477-78. 

18. Ms. Thomas then testified that Defendant had attacked her previously on February 15,2011, 

when they were living together, App. p. 479; that he accused her of being at a boyfriend's 

house, p. 481; that he pushed her down on her bed, choked her, kicked her, put a knife to her 

chest, and threatened to kill her, App. pp. 481-84, and that she reported the incident to police, 

got a protective order and decided to leave him after that alleged attack, pp. 484-86. 

19. Prior to cross-examination, the trial court ruled that the defense could not inquire about Ms. 

Thomas's history ofprostitution, but could inquire about her prior drug use (sans convictions 

that were more than ten years old) over the defense's objection, App. p. 475. 
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20. On cross examination, Ms. Thomas testified that she had no difficulty reporting the prior 

incident to police, App. p. 487; that Defendant was in a program for Vietnam vets with PTSD 

and had a traumatic brain injury, App. p. 490-91; that Defendant did not take his medication 

as prescribed and it affected his mental health and behavior, App. pp. 491-493; that he treated 

her well when they first met, App. p. 493; that she got some benefits through having 

Defendant as her spouse, App. pp. 494-495; that Defendant ran around with other women 

during their marriage, but she did not run around on him, App. pp. 496-498; that she had two 

separate cell phones at the time of the alleged attack on November 15th 116th, 2011, and she 

thought she had given the records to the State, App. p. 502-503; that Defendant was an 

invited guest at her residence on November 15th/16th, 2011, App. p. 509; that she got home 

from work about 12:10 a.m., Id.; that she told Defendant to leave after he started whining 

about lemon law and the bank account, and then she went to bed, Id.; that the confrontation 

occurred about an hour after she went to bed, App. p. 510; that she had no idea why 

Defendant would do it, App. p. 512; that nobody heard her scream, App. p. 513; that the time 

period of the alleged attack was around 1:00 a.m. and she arrived at the hospital around 10:00 

a.m., App. pp. 513-14; that Defendant tried to provide her first aid after he attacked her, App. 

pp. 515-16; that she called the VA Medical Center at 6:16 a.m. on November 16, 2011, App. 

p. 521; that Defendant called Mr. Bonner at 8:21 a.m. on November 16,2011, App. pp. 521

22; that bank records indicated that her bank card was used to get gas at 7:35 a.m. at the 

AC&T station near her apartment on November 16, 2011, App. pp. 523-27; and that she 

disputed hospital records that indicated she called Defendant at 17 :20 hours on November 16, 

2011, App. p. 549-550; that Defendant was not going to take her to the hospital at first but 

then they agreed that he would take her to the V A hospital in D.C., App. p. 554. 
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21. A representative ofAC&T testified that there would have been video evidence of Defendant 

and Ms. Thomas getting gas on the subject morning but it was not preserved in time. App. 

pp.560-476. 

22. Joel Harvey, forensic analyst for WV State Police testified that he tested three swabs in the 

case, one from a knife, which was blood, and two from Ms. Thomas, App. pp. 566-582. 

Melissa Runyan, WV State Police forensic lab supervisor, testified that the DNA sample 

from the blood on the knife was consistent with Ms. Thomas, but she had no knowledge of 

the chain of custody of the swab from the knife before it reached the lab. App. pp. 582-592.

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