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

case, there was a close proximity of time between his two offenses. The Petitioner's 

wife, Ms. Thomas, was the victim each time. The Petitioner's jealously was the reason 

behind each attack. The Petitioner also used the same mechanism for injury as was 

previously threatened made the February 2011 offense-a knife. Each of these facts goes 

to the legitimate purposes offered by the State for the use of the evidence. 

17 



Finally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the probative value 

of the evidence was not substantia1ly outweighed by unfair prejudice, pursuant to 

W.V.R.E. 403. The proximity of time, the same spousal vi~ the same reason for the 

attack, and the same mechanism of injury as was previously threatened made the 

February 2011 offense highly probative to the November 2011 attack. The Petitioner 

does not demonstrate any unfair prejudice in the admission of the evidence, and does 

not prove that the trial court abused its discretion in so balancing the evidence. The 

third part of the three-part analysis is satisfied. Carter, supra. 

Given the brutality of the November 11 knife attack upon Ms. Thomas, and the 

absurdity of the Petitioner's testimony at trial, the Petitioner's assertion to this Court 

that the jury relied upon the evidence of the former offense to convict him of the latter 

makes no practical sense. 

The Petitioner fails to prove that the trial court erred in admitting at trial 

evidence of the Petitioner's prior attack on Ms. Thomas just nine months earlier. Carter. 

supra. The State asks this Court to deny the appeal. 

B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITfED A ONE-PAGE 
FACEBOOK PRINTOUT AS EVIDENCE OF WHAT TRIGGERED THE 
PETITIONER'S JEALOUSY, AND PROPERLY DENIED THE 
PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL ABOUT THE EVIDENCE. 

1. Standard of review. 

This Court recognizes an abuse of discretion standard for general review of the 

admissibility of evidence at trial. liThe decision to admit or reject evidence is committed 
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to the sound discretion of a trial court, and the court's determinations are reviewable 

only for an abuse of discretion [citations omitted]." State v. Wakefield, 236 W. Va. 445, 

781 S.E.2d 222, 229 (2015). 

A motion for mistrial is also reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. 

State y. Thornton, 228 W. Va. 449, 720 S.E.2d 572, 582-583 (2011). This Court holds: 

The decision to declare a mistrial, discharge the jury 
and order a new trial in a criminal case is a matter within the 
sound discretion of the trial court. A trial court is 
empowered to exercise this discretion only when there is a 
"manifest necessity" for discharging the jury before it has 
rendered its verdict. This power of the trial court must be 
exercised wisely; absent the existence of manifest necessity, a 
trial court's discharge of the jury without rendering a verdict 
has the effect of an acquittal of the accused and gives rise to 
a plea of double jeopardy. 

Id., citing State y. WiJljams, 172 W. Va. 295, 305 S.B. 2d 251, 260 (1983). 

2 Discussion. 

The trial court held a pre-trial hearing on whether it should allow the State to 

introduce as evidence at trial a one-page Facebook printout which contained a 

conversation between Ms. Thomas and a co-worker. The State argued the Facebook 

page triggered the Petitioner's jealousy, the motive for his attack on Ms. Thomas. The 

Petitioner argued exclusion of the page for late disclosure, a week before trial. The trial 

court ruled it would allow the State to lay a foundation for the page's admissibility, but 

not as to whether any stains on the document were blood. [A.R. 261-262, 267-269, 271, 

277-285.] 
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The Petitioner does not assert how he was surprised or hampered in the 

presentation of his defense by the admission of the Facebook page itself. The issue of 

the Petitioner's jealousy as a motive for his attack on Ms. Thomas was plainly disclosed, 

and was a subject of the State's previously filed W.V.R.E. 404(b) evidence. The Petitioner 

fails to prove that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing admission of the 

Facebook page. State v. Wakefield, supra. The State asks this Court to deny the 

Petitioner's appeal on this basis. 

Ms. Thomas testified at trial that the Petitioner was jealous and, as he stabbed 

her, he had a printed Facebook conversation between she and a co-worker in his hand. 

He smooshed it in her face. [A.R. 431-435.] She said that because there was blood 

everywhere, her blood was on the document. [A.R. 435.] The Petitioner moved for a 

mistrial, since the trial court previously ordered that there would be no testimony about 

whether the stains on the document were blood. The State argued that it did not elicit 

the testimony. The trial court denied the motion for mistrial. The Petitioner did not ask 

for a cautionary instruction, and none was given. [A.R. 436-437.] Ms. Thomas was then 

shown, and identified, the Facebook page, which was admitted. [A.R. 437-438.] 

The Petitioner does not demonstrate any "manifest necessity" requiring the trial 

court to have granted the motion for mistrial. Thornton, supra. There is no evidence in 

the record that the State intentionally evaded the trial court's pre-trial ruling about 

blood evidence on the Facebook page. In fact, it was not an objection from the Petitioner 
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that brought the matter to the trial court's attention, but the State that asked for a 

sidebar. 

The trial was replete with testimony and evidence of blood found in Ms. 

Thomas' residence. Ms. Thomas was stabbed and cut multiple times with a knife. It 

stands to reason in the context of the evidence as a whole that the Facebook page 

obtained from her apartment may have a blood stain on it, and that any such blood 

stain came &om Ms. Thomas. Yet, the State remained true to the trial court's pre-trial 

ruling about the stain, and did not elicit testimony from Ms. Thomas that the stain was 

blood or reference at any time during trial that blood was on the exhibit. 

That Petitioner's counsel did not request a cautionary instruction is also no cause 

for alarm. Counsel's strategy, like the strategy of counsel observed in Thornton. supra, 

720 S.E.2d 572, at 586, appears to have been to avoid drawing the jury's further 

attention to the issue of whether there was blood on the Facebook page. No manifest 

necessity is proven by the Petitioner to have justified a mistrial. Thornton. supra. 

The Petitioner does not prove that the trial court abused its disaetion to admit 

the Facebook exhibit. State y. Wakefield, supra. The Petitioner does not prove any 

"manifest necessity" requiring the trial court to have granted the motion for mistrial. 

Thornton, supra. The State asks this Cowt to deny the appeal. 
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C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE 
PETITIONER'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE ATTEMPTED MURDER 
CHARGE BASED ON THE EVIDENCE. 

1. Standard of Review. 

The standard of review utilized by this Court when reviewing the denial of a 

motion for acquittal is: 

IIIUpon a motion to direct a verdict for the defendant, 
the evidence is to be viewed in light most favorable to the 
prosecution. It is not necessary in appraising its sufficiency 
that the tria1 court or reviewing court be convinced beyond a 
reasonable doubt of the guilt of the defendant the question 
is whether there is substantial evidence upon which a jury 
might justifiably find the defendant guilty beyond a 
reasonable doubt.' State v. West, 153 W. Va. 325 [168S.E.2d 
716] (1969)." Syllabus Point I, State v. Fischer, 158 W. Va. 72, 
211 S.E.2d 666 (1974). 

Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Grimes, 226 W.Va. 411, 701 S.E.2d 449 (2009); Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Taylor. 

200 W. Va. 661, 490 S.B.2d 748 (1997). 

The standard for reviewing the sufficiency of evidence to support a conviction is: 

A aimina1 defendant challenging the sufficiency of 
the evidence to support a conviction takes on a heavy 
burden. An appellate court must review all the evidence, 
whether direct or circumstantial, in the light most favorable 
to the prosecution and must credit all inferences and 
credIoility assessments that the jury might have drawn in 
favor of the prosecution. The evidence need not be 
inconsistent with every conclusion save that of guilt so long 
as the jury can find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Credibility determinations are for a jury and not an appellate 
court. Finally, a jury verdict should be set aside only when 
the record contains no evidence, regardless of how it is 
weighted, from which the jury could find guilt beyond a 
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reasonable doubt. To the extent that our prior cases are 
inconsistent, they are expressly overruled. Syllabus Point 3, 
State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657,461 S.E.2d 163 (1995). 

SyL Pt. 9, State v. Payne, 22S W.Va. 602, 694 S.E.2d 935 (2010)(quoting Guthrie in part). 

2 Discussion, 

In a light most favorable to the State, the jury had sufficient evidence before it to 

sustam their consideration of, and conviction for, the charge of Attempted Murder. 

Proof of serious bodily injury is not an element of the offense of Attempted 

Murder. State y. Georp. 185 W.Va. 539, 543, 408 S.E.2d 291, 295 (1991). Therefore, the 

Petitioner's argument that there was no expert testimony that Ms. Thomas' injuries 

were life-threatening is irrelevant. Even were it relevant, Ms. Thomas' testimony of her 

serious and severe injuries, corroborated by the medical records admitted, and the 

jury's own observances of the photographs and of Ms. Thomas' scars and 

disfigurements, were sufficient to establish the serious bodily injuries she suffered. 

Attempted Murder in the First Degree requires proof of malice, premeditation or 

lying in wait along with a specific intent to kill. State v. George, id. Malice could be 

inferred by the jury from the use of the deadly weapon and the cruelty of the stabbings 

since there was no evidence of a legal excuse, justification or provocation for the 

Petitioners attack on Ms. Thomas. See State ex rei. Corbin v. Haines, 218 W. Va. 315, 

320-324, 624 S.E.2d 752, 757-761 (2005). The jury could easily find premeditation, the 

Petitioners opportunity to reflect on the act, from the amount of time that lapsed 
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during the violent attack. The jury could find the Petitioner's intent to kill from the 

violence of the attack, the seriousness of the bodily injuries inflicted, and Ms. Thomas' 

testimony that the Petitioner said he was going to kill her. That the Petitioner was 

unsuccessful in killing Ms. Thomas, or stopped short of actually killing her, does not 

diminish his intent to kill at the time of his attack upon her. The jury had an 

opportunity to weigh the evidence before them, including the evidence that Ms. 

Thomas eventually persuaded the Petitioner in to taking her to the Washington, D.C., 

hospital for treatment of her wounds, before determining that he was guilty of 

Attempted Murder in the First Degree. 

The Petitioner fails to prove that the trial court erred in denying his motion for 

acquittal on the Attempted Murder charge, or that the jury had insufficient evidence 

before them to find him guilty of Attempted Murder in the First Degree. State v. 

Grimes, supra; State v. Payne, supra. The State asks this Court to deny the appeal. 

D. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE PEl'Il'IONER'S 

MOTIONS FOR. ACQUITTAL ON THE KIDNAPING CHAR.GE BASED 

ON THE EVIDENCE. 

The standard of review is that set forth in the argument immediately preceding. 

State v. Grimes. supra; State v. Payne. supra. In a light most favorable to the State, the 

jury had sufficient evidence before it to sustain their consideration of, and conviction 

for, the charge of Kidnaping. 
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The trial court's instruction to the jury on the elements of kidnaping followed the 

instruction approved by this Court in State v. Kitchen, 207 W. Va. 724, 727-728,536 

S.E.2d 488,491-492 (2000). The trial court's instruction read: 

Kidnapping is committed when a person by force, 
threat, duress, fraud or enticement takes, confines, conceals, 
decoys, inveigles or entices away, or transports into or out of 
this State or in any other manner kidnaps another person, 
for the purpose or with the intent of taking, receiving, 
demanding or extorting from such person or from any other 
perso~ any ransom, money or other thing, or to obtain any 
concession or advantage of any sort, or for the purpose or 
with the intent of shielding or protecting himself or others 
from bodily harm or of evading capture or arrest after he or 
they have committed a crime. 

[A.R. 903.] 

The evidence before the jury was that the Petitioner stabbed Ms. Thomas shortly 

after 1:00 a.m. After stabbing Ms. Thomas, the Petitioner kept her in the residence for a 

number of hours while she bled and suffered in agony, refusing to seek or take her for 

medical treabnent. The Petitioner's own testimony corroborates Ms. Thomas's 

testimony that a substantial period of time passed before he took her to Washington, 

D.C., for medical treabnent. The Petitioner claimed it was 7:00 a.m. when they left to go 

to the hospital. Ms. Thomas told the jury that everyone at the Martinsburg Veterans 

Hospital knew she and the Petitioner, and that the Martinsburg City Hospital was just a 

few blocks away from her residence. She told the jury the Petitioner refused to call 

family members for assistance. He told her to tell nobody about what occurred. The jury 
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could logically determine from this evidence that the Petitioner, by force, confined the 

Petitioner with the purpose or intent of evading capture or arrest after committing the 

crimes upon Ms. Thomas. 

The Petitioner fails to prove that the trial court erred in denying his motion for 

acquittal on the Kidnaping charge, or that the jury had insufficient evidence before 

them to find him guilty of Kidnaping. State v. Grimes, supra; State v. Payne, supra. 

Additionally, the Petitioner fails to prove that the trial court erred in not granting 

the motion for acquittal upon the Petitioner's theory that the kidnapping was incidental 

to the other crimes he committed upon Ms. Thomas. There are four elements that this 

Court examines to determine whether kidnaping is incidental to another crime: "(1) the 

length of time the victim was held or moved; (2) the distance the victim was forced to 

move; (3) the location and environment of the place the victim was detained; and (4) the 

exposure of the victim to an increased risk of harm." State v. Kitchen, supra, 536 S.E.2d 

488,493, citing State v. Miller, 175 W. Va. 616, 621, 336 S.E.2d 910, 915 (1985). 

The Court may apply those four factors to Ms. Thomas' kidnapping, as follows. 

1) Time. Ms. Thomas was forced to remain hostage to the Petitioner in her 

residence, without medical attention, from around 1:00 a.m., when the Petitioner first 

attacked her, until they left by vehicle around 7:00 a.m. to arrive at the Washington, 

D.C. hospital around 10:00 a.m. The time between 1:00 a.m. to 10:00 a.m. is nine hours. 
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2) Distance. Ms. Thomas was forced to remain in her residence in Martinsburg as 

she bled from her injuries. Several hours later, the Petitioner drove her hours away to 

Washington, D.C. The Petitioner drove her to D.C. despite the fact that there was a 

hospital a few blocks from Ms. Thomas' residence, and the Martinsburg VA Hospital 

where she worked, and where he was a patient was nearby. 

3) Location and environment. While the location where Ms. Thomas was 

detained was her own residence in Martinsburg, the environment was one where she 

had just suffered violent injuries and she was soaked in her own blood without any 

medical treatment for her stab wounds. 

4) Increased risk of harm. Ms. Thomas was exposed to an increased risk of death 

due to the lack of medical attention for her wounds, which attention she was unable to 

seek herself. But for Ms. Thomas' ingenuity in persuading the Petitioner to take her to 

Washington, D.C., for medical treatment since he refused her any local attention, Ms. 

Thomas may have died. 

Applying the four factors of Miller to Ms. Thomas, the Petitioner fails to prove 

that the tria1 court erred in denying his motion for acquittal on the Kidnaping charge. 

State v. Miller, supra. The Petitioner also fails to prove that the jury had insufficient 

evidence before them to find him guilty of Attempted Murder in the First Degree. State 

v. Grimes, supra; State v. Payne, supra. The State asks this Court to deny the appeal. 
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B. THE PETITIONER DOES NOT PROVE CUMULATIVE ERROR. 

1. Standard of review. 

As to cumulative error, this Court holds: 

[A] conviction may be set aside where 
the cumulative effect of numerous errors prevent a 
defendant from receiving a fair trial, even though anyone of 
such errors standing alone would be harmless error. 
[ ... ] Cumulative error analysis should evaluate only the 
effect of matters determined to be error, not 
the cumulative effect of non-errors. 

State v. Knuckles. 196 W. Va. 416, 425-426, 473 S.Eold 131, 140-141 (1996). 

2. Discussion.

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